MapGuide Open Source

# Installing and Configuring on Windows



July 2006

#### Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2006 Autodesk, Inc.

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 2.5 License. You are free to: (i) copy, distribute, display and perform the work; (ii) make derivative works; and (iii) make commercial use of the work, each under the conditions set forth in the license set forth at: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/2.5/legalcode. Notwithstanding the foregoing, you shall acquire no rights in, and the foregoing license shall not apply to, any of Autodesk's or a third party's trademarks used in this document.

AUTODESK, INC., MAKES NO WARRANTY, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE REGARDING THESE MATERIALS, AND MAKES SUCH MATERIALS AVAILABLE SOLELY ON AN "AS-IS" BASIS. IN NO EVENT SHALL AUTODESK, INC., BE LIABLE TO ANYONE FOR SPECIAL, COLLATERAL, INCIDENTAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES IN CONNECTION WITH OR ARISING OUT OF ACQUISITION OR USE OF THESE MATERIALS. THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE LIABILITY TO AUTODESK, INC., REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, SHALL NOT EXCEED THE PURCHASE PRICE, IF ANY, OF THE MATERIALS DESCRIBED HEREIN.

#### Trademarks

Autodesk, Autodesk Map, Autodesk MapGuide are registered trademarks of Autodesk, Inc., in the USA and/or other countries. DWF is a trademark of Autodesk, Inc., in the USA and/or other countries. All other brand names, product names or trademarks belong to their respective holders.

#### Third Party Software Program Credits

Portions copyright 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 by Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory. Funded under Grant P41-RR02188 by the National Institutes of Health.

Portions copyright 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 by Boutell.Com, Inc.

Portions relating to GD2 format copyright 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 Philip Warner.

Portions relating to PNG copyright 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 Greg Roelofs.

Portions relating to gdttf.c copyright 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 John Ellson (ellson@graphviz.org).

Portions relating to gdft.c copyright 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 John Ellson (ellson@graphviz.org).

Portions relating to JPEG and to color quantization copyright 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, Doug Becker and copyright (C) 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 Thomas G. Lane.

This software is based in part on the work of the Independent JPEG Group.

Portions relating to GIF compression copyright 1989 by Jef Poskanzer and David Rowley, with modifications for thread safety by Thomas Boutell. Portions relating to GIF decompression copyright 1990, 1991, 1993 by David Koblas, with modifications for thread safety by Thomas Boutell. Portions relating to WBMP copyright 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 200 4Maurice Szmurlo and Johan Van den Brande.

Portions relating to GIF animations copyright 2004 Jaakko Hyvätti (jaakko.hyvatti@iki.fi)

This product includes PHP, freely available from http://www.php.net/

This product includes software developed by the Apache Software Foundation (http://www.apache.org/).

The Director General of the Geographic Survey Institute has issued the approval for the coordinates exchange numbered TKY2JGD for Japan. Geodetic Datum 2000, also known as technical information No H1-N0.2 of the Geographic Survey Institute, to be installed and used within this software product (Approval No.: 646 issued by GSI, April 8, 2002).

The OSTN97 coordinate transformation is © Crown Copyright 1997. All rights reserved.

The OSTN02 coordinate transformation is <sup>©</sup> Crown copyright 2002. All rights reserved.

The OSGM02 coordinate transformation is <sup>©</sup> Crown copyright 2002, <sup>©</sup> Ordnance Survey Ireland, 2002.

Portions of this software are copyright © 2005 The FreeType Project (www.freetype.org). All rights reserved.

# Contents

Chapter 1	Installing MapGuide on Windows1Installation Requirements2Installing MapGuide Server2Installing MapGuide Web Server Extensions4Setting Up Java for the Bundled Installation8
Chapter 2	Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on
	Windows
	Possible Configuration Scenarios12Directory Structure12Configuration with IIS13Setting Up Virtual Directories for IIS13Setting Up the PHP Association16Setting Up the FastCGI Association17Setting Up the Security Properties19Setting Up the Error Pages20Setting Up Virtual Directories for the Viewers21Configuring PHP23Identifying the Correct php.ini File24Adding the PHP Directory to the PATH25Configuring ASP.NET25

曲

Configuring Web Service Extensions for IIS 6
Configuration with Apache
Common Configuration Steps
Configuring Apache to Use PHP
Configuring Apache to Use JSP
Apache Configuration
Connector Configuration
Tomcat Configuration
Verifying the Configuration
Testing the Map Agent
Testing the Site Administrator
Testing the Web Server Extensions

iv | Contents

# Installing MapGuide on Windows



由

- Installation Requirements
- Installing MapGuide Server
- Installing MapGuide Web Server Extensions

# Installation Requirements

**NOTE** If you do not use the installer, but build MapGuide from source, refer to *Building and Configuring MapGuide on Windows* for instructions.

There are two separate components that make up MapGuide Open Source:

- MapGuide Server
- MapGuide Web Server Extensions

The installer programs are available from the MapGuide downloads page at *http://osgeo.org/*.

You can share the server functionality across more than one computer. One computer must act as the site server, while others can act as support servers that perform a subset of the site functions.

MapGuide Server and MapGuide Web Server Extensions may also be installed on separate computers. When you install Web Server Extensions, you must supply the IP address of the site server.

## Installing MapGuide Server



2 | Chapter I Installing MapGuide on Windows

🙀 Autodesk MapGuide Enterprise 200	07 - Server - Install Wizard	×
Register Autodesk MapGuide Enter Enter registration information.	prise 2007 - Server	Autodesk <sup>.</sup>
Serial number:	he product box.	
License server address: cal-pco This address will be used as the h server during product registration	DOI Nost name for the network license n.	
		<b>-</b>

To install MapGuide Server, run the installer program MgServerSetup.exe. Choose either Site Server or Support Server. If you install a support server, enter the IP address of the site server.

MapGuid	e Server - Install Wizard
Server Ty	pe
Define th	iis Server as a Site or a Support Server.
	Site or Support Server
	Site Server
	C Support Server
	Specify IP address of the Site Server:
	127.0.0.1
	,
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>Next</u> > Cancel

Click Next to install.

The files are installed to C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\Server. The MapGuide Server (mgserver.exe) is started automatically, as a service called MapGuide Server.

Installing MapGuide Server | 3

## Installing MapGuide Web Server Extensions

Before installing MapGuide Web Server Extensions, decide which web server you will use for your site, Apache HTTP Server or Internet Information Services (IIS). Also decide which language you will use for application development, PHP, ASP.NET, or Java Server Pages (JSP). MapGuide Open Source 1.0.1 supports the following versions:

- Apache 2.0.55
- IIS 5 and 6
- PHP 5.0.5
- .NET 2.0
- Tomcat 5.5.12

To install the Web Server Extensions, run the installer program MgWebServerExtensionsSetup.exe.

Choose a configuration type.

lapulde web Server Extensions - 1	nstali wizaro	a	
elect Configuration Type			
Select the type of web server configurati	on you want.		
• Bundled Configuration			
Install and configure Apache, PHP, an development environment for use with	id Tomcat. Cho h MapGuide.	oose either a PHP or J	lava
C IIS Configuration			
Install PHP and auto-configure IIS. Ch environment for use with MapGuide.	noose either a	PHP or .NET developm	nent
C Manual Configuration			
Install all required components for PHI a web server.	P, .NET, and J	lava development, bul	t don't configur
a web server.	, mer, and s		
		[]	

The bundled configuration option installs and configures the Apache HTTP Server, PHP, and Tomcat. You can select this option even if you have an existing Apache installation. These versions are installed as part of the Web Server Extensions installation, and they do not interfere with any existing installations.

4 | Chapter I Installing MapGuide on Windows

The IIS configuration option installs PHP for the Site Administrator, and configures IIS for use with either PHP or ASP.NET.

The manual configuration option installs and configures PHP, ASP.NET, and JSP, but it does not configure a web server. See Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows (page 11) for details about configuration.

If you choose the bundled configuration option, select a port for the Apache HTTP Server. By default, the port is 8008, so it won't conflict with any existing web servers that listen on port 80. The service name for Apache is ApacheMapGuide.

Specify the development environment, either PHP or Java.

**NOTE** If you choose Java as the development environment, you must install the Java JDK, and configure Tomcat. See Setting Up Java for the Bundled Installation (page 8) for details.

🖶 MapGuide Web Server Extensions -	- Install Wizard	×
Bundled Configuration Settings		
Set up the development environment.		
und commentation bound and		
Web Server Port Number:		
8008		
Development Environment:		
● PHP		
C lun		
€ <u>J</u> ava		
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>Next</u> Cancel	

If you choose the IIS configuration option, specify the development environment, either PHP or .NET.

**NOTE** MapGuide requires .NET 2.x. If you have .NET 1.x and .NET 2.x installed on the same computer, IIS will use .NET 1.x as the default environment for the MapGuide virtual directories. You must change this manually. See Configuring ASP.NET (page 25) for details.

Developm	ent Environment:	_	
• B	HP		
• •	₫ET		

Enter the IP address of the Site Server. The default value of 127.0.0.1 assumes that the Site Server and the Web Server Extensions are installed on the same machine.

🙀 MapGuide Web Server Extensions - Install Wizard	×
Server IP address	
Enter the MapGuide Server site server IP address.	
Enter the MapGuide Server site server IP address:	
127.0.0.1	
The cite cerver ID address defaults to localhost (127.0.0.1)	
< <u>B</u> ack <u>Mext</u> Cancel	

Specify Setup Type.

6 | Chapter I Installing MapGuide on Windows



If you specify the typical setup, the rest of the installation proceeds automatically, using default values for the installed components and locations. If you specify the custom setup, you can decide which components to install, and change the installation location for any component.

By default, PHP is installed for the Site Administrator pages, even if you do not plan to use PHP as a development environment.

Also by default, the API documentation is not installed. If you plan to develop MapGuide applications, you should install this documentation.

**NOTE** If you select more than one API you must configure Web Server Extensions manually.

MapGuide Web Server Extensions - Install Wizard	×
Select the program features you want installed	
Select the program reatures you want installed.	
Click on an icon in the list below to change how a feature is in:	stalled.
Web Extensions - Php     Php Agent     Phy Agent     Site Administrator     Web ExtensionsNet     X ▼ .NET Agent     Web Extensions - Java	Feature Description
Api Documentation Developer's Guide	your hard drive. It has 2 of 2 subfeatures selected. The subfeatures require 2032KB on your hard drive.
Install to: C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtension:	s\Php\
Help Space < Back	<u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Click Next to complete the installation. By default, the files are installed to C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions.

## Setting Up Java for the Bundled Installation

If you install the Apache/PHP/Tomcat bundle and choose Java as the development environment, you must also perform the following steps:

- Install the Java JDK.
- Set up redirections for Apache.
- Set JAVA\_HOME
- Start Tomcat.

To install Java, download the JDK from *java.sun.com*. Install using the default installation instructions.

Edit the Apache httpd.conf file. This is located in

```
C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\
WebServerExtensions\Apache2\conf\
```

Replace <code>localhost</code> with the name or IP address of your server in the following lines:

```
Redirect /mapguide/mapviewerajax/
http://localhost:8008/mapguide/mapviewerajava/ajaxviewer.jsp
Redirect /mapguide/mapviewerdwf/
http://localhost:8008/mapguide/mapviewerajava/dwfviewer.jsp
```

#### Restart Apache.

Set the environment variable JAVA\_HOME to the root directory of your Java installation. For the JDK 5.0, update 6, this is

C:\Program Files\Java\jdk1.5.0\_06

Different versions of the JDK will be installed in different locations.

To start Tomcat, go to the Tomcat bin directory and run startup.bat. For the default installation, Tomcat is installed in the following location:

C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions\Tomcat\

# Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows

# 2

## In this chapter

田

- Possible Configuration Scenarios
- Configuration with IIS
- Configuration with Apache
- Verifying the Configuration

## **Possible Configuration Scenarios**

Depending on the choices you made when installing MapGuide Web Server Extensions, you may have to perform different configuration steps. There are three installation methods, with some variations:

This installs separate versions of Apache, PHP, and Tomcat. Existing installations of these components are not affected. This method does not normally require additional config- uration.
This installs a separate version of PHP. If you have an exist- ing installation of PHP, it is not affected. This method does not normally require additional configuration.
This also installs and configures PHP, ASP.NET, and Java. You must configure a web server manually.

If you use Apache as your web server, you can use either PHP or JSP for developing your own applications. If you use IIS as your web server, you can use either PHP or ASP.NET for developing your own applications.

If you choose either Apache or IIS as the web server when you install MapGuide, most of the configuration is done by the installer. If you need to do any site-specific customization, it may be useful to refer to the appropriate configuration details.

## **Directory Structure**

If you use the installer program, the default installation directory (*InstallDir*) is

C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource

and the Web Server Extensions directory (WebDir) is

C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions\www

Make the appropriate substitutions for path names in the instructions that follow.

12 | Chapter 2 Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows

## **Configuration with IIS**

If you use IIS as the web server for MapGuide Web Server Extensions, you have the choice of using either PHP or ASP.NET to develop applications.

In either case, if you want to run the Site Administrator from the machine, you must install PHP.

There are two ways to install MapGuide Web Server Extensions for use with IIS:

- Install and auto-configure using the installer program.
- Install using the installer program, but configure the web server manually.

If you use the installer to configure IIS, you do not need to do any more configuration. You may use this section as reference, to see what configuration steps have been done.

If you use the installer, but choose to configure a web server manually, you must perform the following steps:

- Set up virtual directories for the Web Server Extensions and the AJAX and DWF Viewers.
- Configure PHP or ASP.NET.

Many of the configuration steps for PHP and ASP.NET are the same.

## **Setting Up Virtual Directories for IIS**

This is required if you choose to configure the server manually.

**NOTE** This document contains screenshots showing the IIS Administration Console version 5.1. Dialogs and menus may differ slightly in other versions.

Start the IIS administration console and create a new virtual directory.

Configuration with IIS | 13



Name the virtual directory mapguide.

Virtual Directory Creation Wizard
Virtual Directory Alias You must give the virtual directory a short name, or alias, for quick reference.
Type the alias you want to use to gain access to this Web virtual directory. Use the same naming conventions that you would for naming a directory.
<u>Alias:</u> mapguide
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

Set the physical path to WebDir.



Open the properties dialog for the virtual directory:



Set the properties for the virtual directory, as shown below:

HTTP Headers	Custom Errors	ASP.NET
Virtual Directory	Documents	Directory Security
When connecting to	this resource, the content should come	from:
۲	A directory located on this computer	
C	A share located on another computer	
C	A redirection to a <u>U</u> RL	
Lo <u>c</u> al Path:	L: \Program Files \MapGuideUpenSource	Browse
Local Path: Script source acce Read Write Directory browsing Application Settings	2: VPogram Files (Mapquideu pensource ess V Log visits V Index this resou	an <u>Bro</u> wse
Local Path: Script source acce Pead Write Directory browsing Application Settings Application name:	Cryptogram Files (MapfauldeUpenSource     Cog visits     V Log visits     V Index this resou  mapguide	Browse
Local Path: Script source acce Read Write Directory browsing Application Settings Application name: Starting point:	Mappuldeupensource         285 <ul> <li>Log visits</li> <li>Index this resource</li> </ul> mapguide <ul> <li>Operault We\mapguide</li> </ul>	Browse
Logal Path: Script source acce Paead Write Directory browsing Application Settings Application name: Starting point: Execute Permissions:	Control Contro Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Co	Browse Irce Remove Configuration

## Setting Up the PHP Association

This is required if you will be using PHP as a development environment or if you will be running the Site Administrator on this machine.

You must set up an application mapping so IIS handles PHP files properly. You can choose to have PHP run as a CGI process or as an ISAPI extension.

Setting up the application mapping is the same in both cases, except that the executable path is different.

For CGI, the executable is

InstallDir\WebServerExtensions\Php\php-cgi.exe

For ISAPI, the executable is

InstallDir\WebServerExtensions\Php\php5isapi.dll

NOTE There cannot be any spaces in the path to php5isapi.dll. If you install MapGuide to the default location under C:\Program Files, you must use C:\Progra~1 in the path instead. For example, the default location is C:\Progra~1\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions\Php\php5isapi.dll.

16 | Chapter 2 Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows

From the Properties dialog, click Configuration.

Application (	Config	uration				Þ
Mappings 0	ptions	Debugging	Cache Options	Proce	ss Options	
Cache IS	API apj	olications				
Application	Маррі	ngs				
Exten	Exe	ecutable Path	I		Verbs	~
.ldf	⊂:\v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	λ.
.licx	c:\v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	λ.
.master	c:\v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	λ.
.mdb	c:∖v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	λ.
.mdf	c:∖v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	λ.
.msgx	c:∖v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	A. 🗖 🖉
.php	C:\F	<sup>o</sup> rogram Files'	MapGuideOpen	Sour	All	
.refresh	⊂:\v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET,HEA	7
.rem	c:∖v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET,HEA	λ.
.resource	es ic:∖v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	λ.
.resx	⊂:\v	vindows\micr	osoft.net\framew	ork\	GET, HEA	۹. 🤜
			0 07		OFT UP	
		-				
Add		<u>E</u> dit	<u>H</u> em	ove		
(	0		Cancel	Apply		Help

If a mapping for PHP has not been set up or is not set up properly, click Add or Edit to set up the mapping.

Add/Edit Applica	tion Extension Mapping 🛛 🛛 🔀
E <u>x</u> ecutable:	C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\We
Extension:	.php
Verbs	
O All Verbs	
O Limit to:	
Script engine	
<u>C</u> heck that file ex	ists OK Cancel Help

## Setting Up the FastCGI Association

MapGuide uses a FastCGI agent to improve performance. To configure FastCGI, perform the following steps.

Setting Up the FastCGI Association | 17

The file isapi\_fcgi.dll is located in WebDir\mapagent.

In the IIS Administration Console, set the properties of the mapguide\mapagent folder. Create an application named mapagent. Set the application protection to High (Isolated).

pagent Properties						?
Directory Documents D	irectory Security	HTTP Headers	Custo	om Errors	ASP.NET	1
When connecting to thi	s resource, the c	ontent should com	e from			
• 1	he <u>d</u> esignated d	irectory				
O A	<u>share</u> located o	n another compute	er			
	vredirection to a	URL				
Logal Path:	paguide\mapage	ent				
Script source access	5	Log visits				
✓ <u>R</u> ead		Index this res	ource			
Application Settings						
Application octange				_		
Application name:	mapagent			Rem	iove	
Starting point:	<default td="" we\<=""><td>mapagent</td><td></td><td>Configu</td><td>ration</td><td></td></default>	mapagent		Configu	ration	
Execute Permissions:	Scripts only		•	coninga	rddori	
Application Protection:	High (Isolated)		-	Unjo	bad	
	1					
	οκ	Cancel		antu I	Help	-
	01		8	-piy	Help	_

Click Configuration and set up an application extension mapping to isapi\_fcgi.dll for the .fcgi extension.

**NOTE** You cannot have spaces in the path to isapi\_fcgi.dll. For example, you may need to replace Program Files with Progra~1 in the path.

Add/Edit Applicat	ion Extension Mapping	×
Executable:	C:\Progra~1\MapGuideOpenSource\WebS	
Extension:	fegi	
Verbs		
All Verbs		
○ <u>L</u> imit to:		
Script engine		
Check that file	exists OK Cancel Help	

### 18 | Chapter 2 Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows

Add the following to the Windows Registry. Change the path to mapagent.exe if necessary.

Windows Registry Editor Version 5.00
[HKEY\_LOCAL\_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\FASTCGI]
"MaxPostData"=dword:0000000
"CustomVars"=dword:0000000
"ThreadPoolSize"=dword:0000000
"BypasSAuth"=dword:00000000
"Impersonate"=dword:00000000
"StartServers"=dword:00000001
"IncrementServers"=dword:00000001
"MaxServers"=dword:0000004
"Timeout"=dword:0000004
"Timeout"=dword:0000003c
[HKEY\_LOCAL\_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\FASTCGI\.fcgi]
"BindPath"="c:\\Program Files\\MapGuideOpenSource\\WebServerExten
sions\\www\mapagent\\mapagent.exe"

You should increase the number of ephemeral ports available for the FastCGI agent. Otherwise, there is a chance that the pool of available ports will be used up before enough ports have been freed. Refer to the Microsoft support note at *http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=kb;en-us;319502* for details.

Another alternative is to disable the FastCGI agent and use a regular CGI agent instead. To do this, set the application mapping in IIS to mapagent.exe instead of isapi\_fcgi.dll.

## **Setting Up the Security Properties**

To set the security properties, go to the Directory Security tab and click Edit. Set the options as shown in the dialog below. Note that the account information is already set for you by IIS and you don't need to change it.

Setting Up the Security Properties | 19

Authenticati	on Methods					
No user nam	us access e/password required to access this resource.					
Account use	d for anonymous access:					
<u>U</u> ser name:	IUSR_CCN12356188 Browse					
Password:	issword:					
	Allow IIS to control password					
Authenticate For the follow are required - and - act	d access wing authentication methods, user name and password when onymous access is disabled, or cess is restricted using NTFS access control lists	ł				
📃 Djgest au	thentication for Windows domain servers					
📃 Ba <u>s</u> ic aut	hentication (password is sent in clear text)					
Default <u>d</u> o	main: Select					
<u>R</u> ealm:	ads.autodesk.com					
📃 Integrate	d Windows authentication					
	OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp					

# Setting Up the Error Pages

On the Custom Errors tab, select all the 401 errors, and click Set to Default. This ensures that MapGuide processes authorization requests properly.

20 | Chapter 2 Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows

Php	AapAgent Pro	perties	? 🛛
Virtu	ual Directory Do	cuments D	irectory Security HTTP Headers Custom Errors
F	Error Messages fo Custom error me file.	or HTTP Erro ssages can b	rs pe an absolute URL on this server or a pointer to a
	HTTP Error	Туре	Contents
	<b>400</b>	File	C:\WINDOWS\help\iisHelp\common\400.htm
	401;1	Default	"Unauthorized - Logon failed"
	401;2	Default	"Unauthorized - Logon failed due to server cor
	401;3	Default	"Unauthorized - Unauthorized due to ACL on r
	401;4	Default	"Unauthorized - Authorization failed by filter"
	401;5	Default	"Unauthorized - Authorization failed by ISAPI/(
	들 403;1	File	C:\WINDOWS\help\iisHelp\common\403-1.h
	<b>40</b> 3;2	File	C:\WINDOWS\help\iisHelp\common\403-2.h
	403;3	File	C:\WINDOWS\help\iisHelp\common\403-3.h
	403;4	File	C:\WINDOWS\help\iisHelp\common\403-4.h
	<b>403</b> ;5	File	C:\WINDOWS\help\iisHelp\common\403-5.h
	l <b>≣</b> 403·6	File	C:\WINDOWS\help\iisHelp\common\403-6 h <sup>™</sup>
			Edit Properties Set to Default
			Cancel Apply Help

## Setting Up Virtual Directories for the Viewers

The AJAX Viewer and the DWF Viewer share the same physical path, but you must create separate virtual directories for each. For PHP, the physical path is

WebDir\mapviewerphp

and for ASP.NET, the physical path is

WebDir\mapviewernet

From the IIS administration console, create a new virtual directory for the AJAX viewer.

Setting Up Virtual Directories for the Viewers | 21



Set the alias name to mapviewerajax.

If you use PHP as your development language, set the physical path to *WebDir*\mapviewerphp. If you use ASP.NET as your development language, set the physical path to *WebDir*\mapviewernet.

Finally, set up the default document for the new virtual directory. Open the Documents tab of the Properties dialog, and add the appropriate document to the default list:

- For PHP development, add ajaxviewer.php to the default document list.
- For ASP.NET development, add ajaxviewer.aspx to the default document list.

Virtual Directory When connecting to thi	Documents is resource, the content should come	Directory Security
√hen connecting to thi ⊙ A	is resource, the content should come	6
۵ 💽		e rrom:
-	directory located on this computer	
○ A	share located on another computer	
○ A	redirection to a <u>U</u> RL	
o <u>c</u> al Path:	\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSourc	e\ Browse
 Directory <u>b</u> rowsing  .pplication Settings		
pplication name:	mapviewerajax	Remove
itarting point:	<d\mapviewerajax< td=""><td>Configuration</td></d\mapviewerajax<>	Configuration
xecute <u>P</u> ermissions:	Scripts only	V
pplication Protection:	Medium (Pooled)	🗸 Unjoad

Repeat the steps above to create a virtual directory for the DWF viewer. Set the name to mapviewerdwf instead of mapviewerajax. The physical path is the same for both directories. The default documents are as follows:

- For PHP development, add dwfviewer.php to the default document list.
- For ASP.NET development, add dwfviewer.aspx to the default document list.

## **Configuring PHP**

You must configure PHP if you plan to use it as a development language for MapGuide applications or if you plan to use the Site Administrator. To configure PHP, edit the PHP configuration file, php.ini.

The php.ini file is installed in InstallDir\WebServerExtensions\Php.

Configuring PHP | 23

## Identifying the Correct php.ini File

PHP checks for php.ini in many different places. You must ensure that the MapGuide version is the one PHP uses. Read the PHP documentation for a complete explanation.

The recommended method is to create a system environment variable named PHPRC, and set it to the PHP directory containing php.ini.

With the default installation, this is

C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions\Php

**NOTE** There may be a Windows registry entry that determines which php.ini will be processed. Check for the key HKEY LOCAL MACHINE\SOFTWARE\PHP\IniFilePath. Delete it if it exists.

## **Editing php.ini**

When you use the installer program, most of the required PHP configuration is done for you. However, if you run PHP as a CGI process, you must make the following change to php.ini. Change

```
; cgi.force_redirect = 1
to
cgi.force redirect = 0
```

The php.ini supplied with MapGuide contains some modifications from the standard php.ini. These modifications increase resource limits to allow the use of larger data sets:

```
output_buffering = 4096
max_execution_time = 60
memory_limit = 64M
post_max_size = 64M
upload_max_filesize = 64M
```

## Adding the PHP Directory to the PATH

If you run PHP as an ISAPI extension, you must add the PHP directory to the system PATH environment variable. This ensures that the PHP DLLs can be loaded properly.

Add

C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions\Php

to the system PATH environment variable.

## **Configuring ASP.NET**

If you use the installer, ASP.NET should be configured properly.

Verify that you are using the correct version of ASP.NET. MapGuide requires version 2.0.50727 or higher. Older versions will not work. To verify the version, open the IIS administration console. Navigate to the mapguide site and open the site properties. On the ASP.NET tab, check the version number. Upgrade if necessary.

## **Configuring Web Service Extensions for IIS 6**

IIS 6, running on Windows Server 2003, requires some additional configuration to enable PHP and the Map Agent to run.

From the IIS Manager, select the Web Service Extensions folder. Click Add a new Web Service Extension. Enter mapagent as the extension name, and C:\Program

Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions\www\mapagent\isapi\_fcgi.dll as the required file. Set the extension status to Allowed.

Configuring ASP.NET | 25

ew Web Service Extension Type the name of the new Wel must be enabled for the exten:	b service exter sion to run.	nsion, and specif	y the files that
E <u>x</u> tension name:			
mapagent			
Rgquired files: C:\Program Files\MapGuideOj	oenSource\We	bServerExte	A <u>d</u> d <u>R</u> emove
Set extension status to Allo	owed		
	ОК	Cancel	Help

Repeat for the PHP CGI module. Enter php as the extension name, and C:\Program

 $\label{eq:point} Files \verb|MapGuideOpenSource|WebServerExtensions|Php|php-cgi.exe as the required file.$ 

**NOTE** If you use the regular CGI agent instead of the FastCGI agent, replace <code>isapi\_fcgi.dll</code> with <code>mapagent.exe</code> in the instructions above.

## **Configuration with Apache**

If you use Apache as the web server for MapGuide Web Server Extensions, you have the choice of using either PHP or JSP to develop applications.

In either case, if you want to run the Site Administrator from the machine, you must install PHP.

There are two ways to install MapGuide Web Server Extensions for use with Apache:

- Install with a bundle containing Apache, PHP, and optionally Tomcat.
- Install using the installer program, but configure the web server manually.

If you use the installer to install the Apache/PHP/Tomcat bundle and you will be using PHP for application development, you do not need to do any more configuration.

If you will be using JSP for development, ensure that you have performed the necessary steps described in Setting Up Java for the Bundled Installation (page 8).

If you select the option to configure the web server manually, the installer installs and configures a version of Apache and Tomcat, but does not start the Apache server.

By default, the configuration is set up to use PHP as the development environment. If you want to use JSP instead, you must remove the PHP configuration directives described in Configuring Apache to Use PHP (page 28) and add the JSP directives described in Configuring Apache to Use JSP (page 28).

Most of the configuration is done by editing httpd.conf, in the conf directory of the Apache installation.

**NOTE** Some directives have been split over multiple lines in this document, but they must be written on one line in the configuration file.

## **Common Configuration Steps**

There are some steps you must perform whether you are using PHP or JSP as a development environment.

■ If you are using the Site Administrator or plan to use PHP as a development environment, configure Apache to process files with the .php extension. Edit httpd.conf. Look for the configuration of the PHP engine. Ensure it is set as follows, or add the following to the file as necessary.

```
ScriptAlias /php/ "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/
WebServerExtensions/Php/"
Action application/x-httpd-php "/php/php-cgi.exe"
AddType application/x-httpd-php .php
```

■ In the Dynamic Shared Object Support section, ensure that the rewrite module is enabled. If there is a comment character at the beginning of the line, remove it so it looks like this:

LoadModule rewrite module modules/mod rewrite.so

## **Configuring Apache to Use PHP**

To use PHP as the development environment with the Apache HTTP Server, add the following declarations at the end of httpd.conf.

```
ScriptAlias /mapguide/mapagent/mapagent.fcgi
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapagent/MapAgent.exe"
AliasMatch ^/mapguide/mapviewerajax/([^\?])(.*)$
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerphp/$1$2"
Alias /mapguide/mapviewerajax
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerphp/ajaxviewer.php"
AliasMatch ^/mapguide/mapviewerdwf/([^\?])(.*)$
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerphp/$1$2"
Alias /mapguide/mapviewerdwf
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerphp/dwfviewer.php"
Alias /mapguide
   "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/www/"
<Directory
  "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/www/">
  AllowOverride All
  Options All
  Order allow, deny
  Allow from all
  AddHandler cgi-script .exe
  RewriteEngine on
  RewriteRule .* - [E=REMOTE USER:%{HTTP:Authorization},L]
</Directory>
```

Save the changes and restart the Apache server.

## **Configuring Apache to Use JSP**

To use JSP as the development environment with the Apache HTTP Server, you must install the following components:

■ Java JDK 1.5

- Tomcat
- The Apache/Tomcat connector.

Download the Java JDK from *java.sun.com*. Install using the default installation instructions. Set the environment variable JAVA\_HOME to the root directory of your Java installation.

Download Tomcat and the Tomcat-Apache connector from *tomcat.apache.org*. Install using the default installation instructions.

You must also perform the following steps:

- Edit the Apache configuration file, httpd.conf.
- Add a workers.properties configuration file for the Tomcat connector.
- Configure and start Tomcat.

## **Apache Configuration**

Add the following declarations at the end of httpd.conf.

Configuring Apache to Use JSP | 29

```
ScriptAlias /mapguide/mapagent/mapagent.fcgi
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapagent/MapAgent.exe"
AliasMatch ^/mapguide/mapviewerajax/([^\?])(.*)$
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerjava/$1$2"
Alias /mapguide/mapviewerajax
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerjava/ajaxviewer.jsp"
AliasMatch ^/mapguide/mapviewerdwf/([^\?])(.*)$
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerjava/$1$2"
Alias /mapguide/mapviewerdwf
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    www/mapviewerjava/dwfviewer.jsp"
Alias /mapguide
   "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/www/"
<Directory
   "C:/Program Files/MapGuideOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/www/">
  AllowOverride All
  Options All
  Order allow, deny
  Allow from all
  AddHandler cgi-script .exe
  RewriteEngine on
  RewriteRule .* - [E=REMOTE USER:%{HTTP:Authorization},L]
</Directory>
```

Add the following to the configuration file. These declarations are necessary for the Tomcat connector. Replace <hostName>:<Port> with the correct name and port. localhost will not work for the redirection.

30 | Chapter 2 Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows

```
LoadModule
             jk module modules/mod jk.so
JkWorkersFile
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuidOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
    Apache2/conf/workers.properties"
# Where to put jk logs
JkLogFile
    "C:/Program Files/MapGuidOpenSource/WebServerExtensions/
   Apache2/logs/mod jk.log"
# Set the jk log level [debug/error/info]
JkLogLevel
            info
# Select the log format
JkLogStampFormat "[%a %b %d %H:%M:%S %Y] "
# JkOptions indicate to send SSL KEY SIZE,
JkOptions +ForwardKeySize +ForwardURICompat -ForwardDirectories
# JkRequestLogFormat set the request format
JkRequestLogFormat "%w %V %T"
# Send everything for context /examples to worker named
# worker1 (ajp13)
JkMount /mapguide/mapviewerjava/* worker1
Redirect /mapguide/mapviewerajax/
   http://<HostName>:<Port>/mapguide/mapviewerjava/ajaxviewer.jsp
Redirect /mapguide/mapviewerdwf/
```

http://<HostName>:<Port>/mapguide/mapviewerjava/dwfviewer.jsp

## **Connector Configuration**

Rename the pre-built Apache/Tomcat connector binary to mod\_jk.so and place it in the Apache modules directory. The original file includes the version number and should be mod\_jk-1.2.14-apache-2.0.54.so.

Add a workers.properties file in the Apache conf folder, containing the following:

Configuring Apache to Use JSP | 31

```
# Define 1 real worker using ajpl3
worker.list=worker1
# Set properties for worker1 (ajpl3)
worker.worker1.type=ajpl3
worker.worker1.host=localhost
worker.worker1.port=8009
worker.worker1.lbfactor=50
worker.worker1.cachesize=10
worker.worker1.cache_timeout=600
worker.worker1.socket_keepalive=1
worker.worker1.recycle_timeout=300
```

## **Tomcat Configuration**

In the Tomcat conf\Catalina\localhost directory, add a context file named mapguide.xml with the following content:

```
<!--

Context configuration file for the Tomcat Manager Web App

-->

<Context

docBase=

"C:\Program Files\MapGuideOpenSource\WebServerExtensions\www"

privileged="true" antiResourceLocking="false" antiJAR

Locking="false">

<!-- Link to the user database we will get roles from -->

<ResourceLink name="users" global="UserDatabase"

type="org.apache.catalina.UserDatabase"/>

</Context>

To start Tomcat, execute

startup.bat
```

32 | Chapter 2 Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows

in the Tomcat bin directory.

## Verifying the Configuration

You can run some simple tests to ensure that the Map Agent and Web Server Extensions are configured properly.

## **Testing the Map Agent**

Ensure that the MapGuide Server is running. The installer configures MapGuide Server as a service. Check that the service status is Started.

Open a web browser and go to the following URL. If the Web Server Extensions are not running on your local machine, replace localhost with the name or IP address of your server.

http://localhost/mapguide/mapagent/mapagent.fcgi? OPERATION=ENUMERATERESOURCES&VERSION=1.0.0& LOCALE=en&RESOURCEID=Library://&TYPE=&DEPTH=-1

Note that if your web server is listening on a different port you must include the port number in the HTTP request. For example, if Apache is listening on port 8008, you must go to the following URL:

http://localhost:8008/mapguide/mapagent/mapagent.fcgi? OPERATION=ENUMERATERESOURCES&VERSION=1.0.0& LOCALE=en&RESOURCEID=Library://&TYPE=&DEPTH=-1

Enter *Administrator* for the user id and *admin* for the password. Both are case-sensitive.

If the Map Agent is running properly, you will get an XML document describing the resources in the repository.

## **Testing the Site Administrator**

Ensure that the MapGuide Server is running. Open a web browser and go to the following URL.

http://localhost/mapguide/mapadmin/login.php

Note that if your web server is listening on a different port you must include the port number in the HTTP request. For example, if Apache is listening on port 8008, you must go to the following URL:

http://localhost:8008/mapguide/mapadmin/login.php

Verifying the Configuration | 33

Enter Administrator for the user id and admin for the password. Both are case-sensitive.

If the Site Administrator is configured properly, you will get a Manage Servers page which lists all the servers configured in the MapGuide Site.

## **Testing the Web Server Extensions**

You can check that the Web Extensions are correctly set up. If your application development language is PHP, go to this URL in a web browser:

http://localhost/mapguide/mapviewerajax/ajaxviewer.php? WEBLAYOUT=Library://ATest.WebLayout

If your application development language is ASP.NET, go to this URL in a web browser:

http://localhost/mapguide/mapviewerajax/ajaxviewer.aspx? WEBLAYOUT=Library://ATest.WebLayout

If your application development language is JSP, go to this URL in a web browser:

http://localhost/mapguide/mapviewerajax/ajaxviewer.jsp? WEBLAYOUT=Library://ATest.WebLayout

Because the web layout ATest does not exist in the MapGuide repository, you should see the following error:

Resource was not found: Library://ATest.WebLayout

This error is returned by the AJAX Viewer script. This shows that the Web Server Extensions are correctly enabled to receive and process requests.

34 | Chapter 2 Configuring MapGuide Web Server Extensions on Windows